
Scrutiny Standing  
Panel Agenda 

1 

 
 
 
 
Environmental and Planning Services Standing Scrutiny 
Panel 
Thursday, 1st December, 2005 
 
Place: Committee Room 2, Civic Offices, High Street, Epping 
  
Time: 7.30 pm 
  
Democratic Services 
Officer: 

Z Folley - Research and Democratic Services 
Tel: 01992 564532 Email: zfolley@eppingforestdc.gov.uk 

 
Members: 
 
Councillors D Stallan (Chairman), M Woollard (Vice-Chairman), Mrs M Boatman, 
Mrs D Borton, D Kelly, A Lee, P McMillan, T Richardson, Mrs M Sartin and Mrs P Smith 
 
 
 
 

 
PLEASE NOTE THAT THIS MEETING IS OPEN TO ALL MEMBERS TO ATTEND 

 
 

 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 

 2. SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (COUNCIL MINUTE 39 - 23.7.02)   
 

  (Head of Research and Democratic Services)  To report the appointment of any 
substitute members for the meeting. 
 

 3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   
 

  (Head of Research and Democratic Services). To declare interests in any items on the 
agenda. 
 
In considering whether to declare a personal or a prejudicial interest under the Code 
of Conduct, Overview & Scrutiny members are asked pay particular attention to 
paragraph 11 of the Code in addition to the more familiar requirements. 
 
This requires the declaration of a personal and prejudicial interest in any matter before 
an OS Committee which relates to a decision of or action by another Committee or 
Sub Committee of the Council, a Joint Committee or Joint Sub Committee in which the 
Council is involved and of which the Councillor is also a member. 
 
Paragraph 11 does not refer to Cabinet decisions or attendance at an OS meeting 

 



Environmental and Planning Services Standing Scrutiny Panel Thursday, 1 December 2005 
 

2 

purely for the purpose of answering questions or providing information on such a 
matter. 
 

 4. NOTES OF THE LAST MEETING - 16 NOVEMBER 2005  (Pages 3 - 6) 
 

  Attached. 
 

 5. TERMS OF REFERENCE / WORK PROGRAMME  (Pages 7 - 8) 
 

  (Chairman/Lead Officer) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has agreed the Terms 
of Reference of this Panel and associated Work Programme. This is attached. The 
Panel are asked at each meeting to review both documents. 
 

 6. CLEAN NEIGHBOURHOODS AND ENVIRONMENT ACT 2005  (Pages 9 - 16) 
 

  (Head of Environmental Services). To consider the attached report. 
 

 7. REPORTS TO BE MADE TO THE NEXT MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE   

 
  To consider which reports are ready to be submitted to the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee at its next meeting. 
 

 8. FUTURE MEETINGS   
 

  To consider the forward programme of meeting dates for the Panel. 
 

 



1 

EPPING FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL 
NOTES OF A MEETING OF ENVIRONMENTAL AND PLANNING SERVICES STANDING 

SCRUTINY PANEL  
HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 16 NOVEMBER 2005 

IN COMMITTEE ROOM 2, CIVIC OFFICES, HIGH STREET, EPPING 
AT 7.00  - 8.30 PM 

 
Members 
Present: 

D Stallan (Chairman), M Woollard (Vice-Chairman), Mrs M Boatman, 
Mrs D Borton, A Lee, P McMillan, Mrs M Sartin and Mrs A Grigg 

  
Other members 
present: 

R Glozier, D Jacobs and Mrs J H Whitehouse 

  
Apologies for 
Absence: 

D Kelly and Mrs P Smith 

  
Officers Present J Preston (Head of Planning and Economic Development), J Gilbert (Head 

of Environmental Services), J Scott (Joint Chief Executive), D Marsh 
(Environmental Services) and Z Folley (Democratic Services Assistant) 

  
Also in 
attendance: 

(none) 

 
29. SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (COUNCIL MINUTE 39 - 23.7.02)  

 
The Panel noted that Councillor Mrs A Grigg was attending the meeting as a 
substitute for Councillor Mrs P Smith 
 

30. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
No declarations were made pursuant to the Council’s Code of Member Conduct. 
 

31. NOTES OF THE LAST MEETING - 20 OCTOBER 2005  
 
Noted. 
 

32. TERMS OF REFERENCE / WORK PROGRAMME  
 
Noted. 
 

33. WEST ESSEX  AREA WASTE MANAGEMENT JOINT COMMITTEE - MINUTES 
OF THE LAST MEETING - 26 OCTOBER 2005  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Environmental Protection presented the minutes and outlined 
the main issues for consideration.  
 
The Head of Environmental Services reported on recent changes to the proposed 
procurement approach for the waste strategy project. The main proposal was that the 
existing approach be amended to enable the decoupling of the collection and 
disposals arrangements and that system integration opportunities be retained. The 
impact of this was outlined including the potential implications for the CPA process 
and the demonstration of Best Value. The Head of Environmental Services also drew 
attention to the Waste Strategy reference case.  
 

Agenda Item 4

Page 3



Environmental and Planning Services Standing Scrutiny PanelWednesday, 16 
November 2005 

2 

It was noted that a special meeting of the Panel had been agreed to consider the 
Outline Business Case (OBC) for the procurement process. The Head of 
Environmental Services explained that given the changes to the procurement 
process and the need to reflect the current position in the OBC, the production of the 
document was taking longer than expected. 
 
Several Members asked about the timescale for the implementation of the wheeled 
bin  service for the District. The Head of Environmental Services reminded the Panel  
that a letter detailing the programme  signed by the Portfolio Holder had been  
circulated to Members and undertook to resend this to the Panel for information.  
 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the minutes of the meeting of the West Essex Area Management Joint 
Committee held on 26 October 2005 be noted. 

 
34. CLEAN NEIGHBOURHOODS AND ENVIRONMENT ACT 2005  

 
The Panel were invited to consider and comment on the Clean Neighbourhoods and 
Environment Act 2005. 
 
The Head of Environmental Services presented a report summarising the Act. He 
reported the need to link its provisions to the Crime and Disorder Strategy. He stated 
that he had met with the Crime and Disorder Co-ordinator to discuss this aim and 
would be meeting with him again before the deadline for submissions to  give the 
issues further consideration. 
 
The Panel had before them a copy of the main consultation document which was 
circulated prior to the meeting.  
 
The document was split into 10 main parts which covered  crime and disorder, 
vehicles, litter, refuse, waste noise and dog controls. 
 
The Panel considered the document and made the following  comments: 
 

• In relation to vehicles, it was proposed that the provisions should cover and 
create additional powers to deal with nuisance parking in residential areas. 

 
• Several Members requested to see more detailed information on the costs to 

the Council of the Act especially the provision of unformed wardens.  
 

• In relation to the control of dogs, several Members expressed concern about 
the practicalities of the indication that  following the changes local authorities 
would be expected to provide a 24/7 service for the collection and kennelling 
of strays. It was recommended that the police still be involved in this service 
and continued to share the responsibly with local councils  

 
The Head of Environmental Services reported that changes to the arrangements for 
the payment by the County of recycling credits to collection authorities was currently 
the subject of a separate consultation exercise. Members would be informed about 
the outcome of this exercise through the Members Bulletin.  
 

Page 4



Environmental and Planning Services Standing Scrutiny PanelWednesday, 16 
November 2005 

3 

The Panel agreed that a further meeting be arranged so that a further consideration 
could be given to the document and a response formulated for consideration at the 
next OSC on 8 December 2005. 
 
The Head of Environmental Services reported that the Panel would receive a detailed 
report on the use of Community Wardens and the wider considerations in relation to 
the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005. It was agreed that the 
Chairman of the Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership, and the Portfolio Holder 
for Community Wellbeing be invited to the meeting to which this report was submitted 
to enhance the discussions. The Panel undertook to propose a timescale and priority 
for the review for the Chairman’s report at the next OSC on 8 December 2005. 
 

ACTION 
 

The Head of Environmental Services to incorporate the Panels comments 
within the response. 

 
35. EAST OF ENGLAND REGIONAL PLAN - PUBLIC EXAMINATION  

 
The Head of Planning and Economic Development drew attention to two attachments 
to the this weeks Members Bulletin forwarding details on the Members Briefing to be 
held on 19 November 2005 on the Examination in Public for the  East of England 
Plan. The Portfolio Holder encouraged Members to attend.  
 

36. RE-USE OF BUILDINGS IN THE GREEN BELT  
 
There were no matters to report.  
 

37. REPORTS TO BE MADE TO THE NEXT MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 
Response to Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 (Part 1)  
 

38. FUTURE MEETINGS  
 
1 December 2005 at 7.00p.m 
 
Z Folley to canvass dates for the meeting thereafter through the Members Bulletin.  
 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



G:\C\WILLETT\G 2005\TERMS OF REFERENCE - STANDING PANEL.doc 

TERMS OF REFERENCE - STANDING PANEL 
 
 
Title:   
Environmental and Planning Services 
 
 
Status: Amended following Panel meeting on 20 October 2005 
 
 
 
Terms of Reference: 
 
1. To keep under review the activity and decisions of the West Essex Joint Waste 

Committee with respect to: 
 
 (a) the procurement of the integrated waste collection and disposal contract for 

 the West Essex area (Epping Forest, Braintree, Harlow, Brentwood & 
 Uttlesford); 

 (b) following procurement the monitoring of contract performance; and 
 (c) the annual review of the Joint Waste Committee business plan. 
 
2.  To consider what changes are practical and desirable to Council policies concerning 

the reuse of redundant and other buildings in the Metropolitan Green Belt; in 
particular, are further restrictions necessary (changes in policy required) to ensure 
that such developments are truly sustainable and; 

 
3. To undertake a vehicle movements study to identify the issues raised in paragraph 2 

above. In order to inform this, conduct an initial feasibility study to identify the 
resourcing issues, scope and nature of problems, consult interested parties including 
the County and how a study can support the requirements of the new Local 
Development Scheme.  

 
4. To consider the processes by which the existing Local Plan is being amended to 

seek to keep it up to date, in particular whether the resources required are being 
provided, and whether alternatives are realistic.  To similarly consider the 
arrangements by which the new Local Development Scheme is being brought into 
operation. In particular, to consider how new requirements for community 
consultation and strategic environmental assessment work in practice. 

 
5. To consider matters which arise through the process that the Government is driving 

to bring in an East Of England Plan; these may range from arrangements 
concerning the Examination in Public, how to respond to the initiatives or views of 
those who support or oppose us, and how we may support or oppose the views 
taken by others.  In particular, this is to allow the Portfolio Holder for Planning and 
Economic Development to remain tuned in to local views, and supersedes previous 
advisory group arrangements. 

 
6. In the context of the Cleaner Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005  to 

consider the viability of employing uniformed wardens, the formulation of a 
response to the document and the financial consequences of these matters.    

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5

Page 7



G:\C\WILLETT\G 2005\TERMS OF REFERENCE - STANDING PANEL.doc 

Work Programme 2005/6 
Item 
 
 

Priority 
 

Report 
Deadline 

1. Receive the minutes of the 
West Essex Joint Waste Committee 
 
2. Re use of buildings in the 
Green Belt: 
 
(i) Initial feasibility study on 

vehicle movements  
(ii)  Main study on above 
 
3. Local Development Scheme 
 
4. East of England Plan. 
 
5.  Clean Neighbourhoods and 
Environment Act 2005: 
 
(i)  Formulation of response  
(ii) Provision of Uniformed 
Wardens 
 

High 
 
 
 
 
 
High 
 
Medium 
 
High 
 
High 
 
 
 
 
High 
 
 

Every Committee  
 
 
 
 
 
December 2005 
 
March 2006 
 
Every Committee 
 
Every Committee 
 
 
 
 
December 2005 
To be confirmed  

Chairman: 
Councillor David Stallan 
 
 

 
 

Page 8



Report to Environmental and Planning Services Scrutiny 
Standing Panel 
  
Date of meeting: 1 December 2005 
  
Subject:  Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 
 
Draft Guidance Consultation 
 
Officer contact for further information:  J Gilbert (ext 4062) 
 
Committee Secretary:  Z Folley (ext 4532) 
 
 
Recommendation: 

 
That the Panel consider and respond to the questions identified in the report 
which seeks views on the draft Government guidance for the Clean 
Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 

 
Introduction  
 
1. The Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 received the Royal Assent in 
April 2005.  Some measures came into force in June, some in October but the majority do not 
come into force until April 2006.  Before bringing these later powers into being the 
Government is consulting upon the guidance government it intends to provide to local 
authorities in support of the new legislative provisions.  Separate guidance will be issued by 
the Home Office and the ODPM with regard to ‘Gating Orders’ and flyposting respectively. 
 
2. The consultation period ends on the 2 January 2005 and alongside the basic 
guidance document is also seeking views on the need to support the guidance through 
advice, peer support, seminars, workshops and the like. 
 
3. At the last meeting of the Panel members received an introduction to the Act, the 
issues it covered and the new powers that were to be made available to local authorities.  
Members are requested to bring that report and the guidance to the meeting since this paper 
will cover the issues in the same order.  It is therefore not proposed in this report to set out 
again the basic details but just to deal with the specific questions posed by the consultation. 
 
Crime and Disorder 
 
4. Strategies made under the auspices of the Crime & Disorder Act 1998 will be required 
to include specific references to environmental crime.  Government wish to ensure that 
matters such as littering, flyposting & graffiti are included, and following local audits strategies 
include action to deal with it.  The next round of audits are due in 2007 and then published in 
2008. 
 
Question:  Do you have any comments on the guidance regarding inclusion of 
environmental crime into crime & disorder partnerships and strategies? 
 
Nuisance parking offences 
 
5. These new powers only relate to offences under this Act and not to any other parking 
offences.  These new offences are targeted at: 
 
(a) persons who run businesses and sell vehicles from local streets; and 
(b) persons who run businesses and repair vehicles on local streets. 

Agenda Item 6

Page 9



 
In neither case is it intended to penalise residents who wish to sell a vehicle.  Similarly where 
a resident needs to undertake repairs to a vehicle on the road in order to be able to move it 
they can, but it must not cause a nuisance or go on for longer than 72 hours. 
 
6. With respect to the sale of vehicles it is proposed to apply where: 
 
(a) a person leaves two or more vehicles are parked within 500 metres of each other on a 
road or roads which are advertised for sale; or 
(b) a person causes this to happen 
 
The fine is up to £2,500 
7. In respect of vehicle repairs, an offence is committed if repairs are carried out on a 
road.  There is a defence to demonstrate that repairs were not part of a business or for 
reward, but this defence does not apply if there is reasonable cause for annoyance to 
persons in the vicinity.  This would mean that ordinary residents will be ‘caught’ if they repair 
cars on the road and the authority believes that this is causing annoyance to local people. 
 
The fine is also £2,500. 
 
The 72 period of grace can be extended by the local authority 
 
Question: Do you have any comments on the guidance for nuisance vehicles? 
 
Abandoned vehicles 
 
8. This guidance supports the existing legislation and changes to it made by this Act.  
Existing legislation makes it an offence to abandon a vehicle on any land in the open air or on 
any other land forming part of the highway.  The maximum penalty is £2,500 and this Act 
provides the power to issue fixed penalty notices in lieu of formal Court action. 
 
9. Local authorities have a duty to remove abandoned vehicles, but where these are not 
on the highway, they are not required to do so if the cost is unreasonably high.  The law does 
not prescribe ‘abandoned’ but the guidance sets out ‘clues’ such as: 
 
• untaxed 
• no DVLA record 
• present for a long period of time 
• significant damage 
• burned out 
• lacking one or more number plates 
• containing waste 
 
However, no road tax is not considered sufficient of itself to assume abandonment. 
 
10. Removal from non highway land is dependant upon cost.  However, the guidance 
suggests that local authorities should not refuse to remove abandoned vehicles on these 
ground unless costs are “unreasonable” 
 
Question: What constitutes unreasonable cost and should government provide 
guidance by setting a monetary or percentage value? 
 
Litter & refuse 
 
11. There are a range of changes and additions to the legislation relating to litter & refuse.  
There are 8 questions on this part of the guidance.  The basic changes were set out in the 
last report in paragraphs 10 and 11.  It is not practical in this report to set out all the various 
changes in detail and members are therefore requested to read part 5 of the guidance 
document so that the questions set out on page 24 can be responded to. 

Page 10



 
12. It is the view of officers that the guidance is clear and helpful, but the guidance is not 
solely targeted at local authority professionals and members.  The guidance is also intended 
to assist the public who wish to complain where necessary to take action upon a landowner 
for their failure to keep land free of litter etc.  Members are therefore requested to read and 
consider the guidance in that light and make comment as appropriate. 
 
Graffiti and other defacement 
 
13. The Anti-social behaviour Act 2003 empowered local authorities to serve notices on 
statutory undertakers and others to remove graffiti.  These powers were trialled in 12 local 
authorities, including Epping Forest starting in April 2004.  These powers are now to be rolled 
out on a national basis, and local authorities and statutory undertakers are encouraged to set 
up graffiti partnerships. 
 
14. This Act further extends these powers to deal with flyposting.  Further guidance will be 
issued on this particular subject in due course.  The notices to be served will be known as 
“defacement removal notices”. 
 
15. The defences of landowners relating to flyposting, placards and posters have 
strengthened council powers, in that it is no longer a defence for a landowner to simply claim 
that they were not aware.  They have to clearly prove that they did not know, or that steps 
were taken to prevent or remove the display.  defacement notices should not be used in 
these circumstances, but for street furniture and statutory undertakers’ equipment. 
 
16. There are a number of questions posed on page 70 of the guidance document, which 
can best be dealt with by the Crime Reduction Coordinator, especially given the Council’s 
and his experience through the graffiti trials previously mentioned.   It is hoped that he will be 
able to attend the meeting or else provide written assistance  to enable the questions to be 
responded to or commented upon. 
 
Waste 
 
17. There are new and revised powers in respect of the transport of waste.  In summary 
these are: 
 
• where waste is illegally transported, the defence of acting “under the instructions of an 
employer” is removed 
• changes to registration requirements (not a district function) 
• to provide the same powers of stop and search of vehicles to the police and district 
councils as are currently provided to the Environment Agency.  Only a police officer may stop 
a vehicle on the highway, and if a police officer detains a vehicle he is deemed to have done 
so on behalf of the local authority. 
• fixed penalty notices may be issued to deal with offences, the level being set at £300. 
 
18. These powers are intended to enable authorities to deal more effectively with illegal 
dumping and provide a more effective waste audit trail. 
 
Question: Do you have any comments on the guidance relating to the 
transportation of waste? 
 
Deposit and disposal of waste 
 
19. In dealing with the illegal depositing or disposal of waste, the following is a summary 
of the changes / revisions: 
• where waste is illegally deposited, the defence of acting “under the instructions of an 
employer” is removed 
• penalties are increased from £25,000 to £50,000 and the term of imprisonment increased 
to 5 years 

Page 11



• on conviction the investigating authority can seek to include the costs of the investigation 
in any claim for legal costs 
• on conviction a Court can award “clean up costs” to the investigating authority 
• on conviction a Court may confiscate vehicles 
• creation of fixed penalty offences for incorrect documentation, the penalty being set at 
£300 
• to provide the same powers of stop, search and seizure of vehicles to the police and 
district councils as currently provided to the Environment Agency.  Only a police officer may 
stop a vehicle on the highway, and if a police officer detains a vehicle he is deemed to have 
done so on behalf of the local authority 
 
20. This part of the Act also empowers waste collection authorities to issue fixed penalty 
notices with respect to sections 46 and 47 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.  This 
issue was discussed at the last cabinet meeting when delegation was sought for officers to 
utilise these powers.  cabinet agreed in principle but deferred any use until a further report to 
the February 2006 meeting. 
 
21. The powers to require land owners to deal with fly-tipped waste have been widened to 
enable action to be taken against an owner where there is no occupier, the occupier cannot 
be found or the occupier has failed to comply with earlier enforcement action.  Whilst rightly 
considered to be an action of last resort, the powers may be useful in dealing with waste 
when all other investigative avenues have proved to be fruitless. 
 
22. The powers of investigation by officers have also been widened to include (inter alia): 
 
• powers of entry 
• be accompanied by another officer or constable 
• powers to investigate as required 
• powers to take photographs, measurements etc 
• powers to take samples 
• powers to seize equipment and materials 
• powers to require document disclosure 
 
Question: Do you have any comments on the guidance relating to deposit & 
disposal of waste? 
 
Waste disposal functions 
 
23. This part of the guidance relates specifically to the waste disposal authorities such as 
Essex County Council, because it enables WDAs to provide disposal facilities themselves 
rather than having to contract these services out.  However this part of the guidance also 
relates to the relationships between WDAs and WCAs with a view to ensuring that best value 
is provided across the entire waste management process for the local taxpayer. 
 
24. The current partnership between the County Council and the Districts / Boroughs 
demonstrates that in Essex the thrust of the guidance is already being adhered to.  Rather 
than go into detail on the existing arrangements in this report, it is suggested that members 
read this section and raise any issues at the meeting. 
 
Question: Do you have any comments on the guidance relating to waste disposal 
functions? 
 

Page 12



Dog control orders 
 
25. The Act replaces the somewhat cumbersome system of dog control orders with Dog 
Control Orders.  The regulations enabling this are set out as appendices to the guidance 
document. 
 
Question: Do you have any comments on the draft regulations? 
 
26. The regulations provide for five offences: 
 
(i) failing to remove dog faeces 
(ii) not keeping a dog on a lead 
(iii) not putting a dog on a lead if requested to do so 
(iv) allowing a dog onto land where a dog is not permitted 
(v) taking more than a specified number of dogs onto land. 
 
The penalty for non compliance is £1,000 or the penalty can be discharged through a fixed 
penalty notice. 
 
Orders can be made by district and town/parish councils 
 
27. The land to be included in the order is effectively the same as for litter, namely all land 
open to the air, including that partially enclosed such as bus shelters and railway platforms.  
The Secretary of State intends however to exclude certain land including: 
 
(a) forestry commission in relation to all dog control orders 
(b) roads in relation to excluding dogs from specified land. 
 
Question: Should any other land be excluded? 
 
28. There will be a defence form a dog owner where the act takes place with the consent 
of the land owner.  Other defences include working dogs and ‘specialist’ dogs used by 
persons with visual or hearing difficulties or similar. 
 
Question: Should there be other exemptions? 
 
29. Orders may be made by primary and secondary authorities (i.e. district and boroughs, 
Counties where there is no district, London Boroughs etc).  Secondary authorities are town 
and parish councils.  The Secretary of State can designate other organisations as secondary 
authorities thereby providing them with the power to make orders.  An example in this area 
might include the Lee Valley Park Authority. 
 
Question: Views on the extension of secondary authorities? 
 
30. It will be important to avoid and overlap of ‘conflict’ between primary and secondary 
authorities in making and enforcing orders.  It will therefore be necessary for the respective 
authorities to consult. 
 
Question: Should this consultation be made a legal requirement? 
 
Noise 
 
31. The Council already has extensive powers for dealing with noise nuisance.  However, 
society is becoming noisier and unfortunately certain elements within our communities 
continue to make a nuisance to the detriment of their neighbours.  The Act provides 
extensions to powers, summarised as follows: 
 
• ability to designate part of the district as an “alarm notification area”, whereby key holders 
must be notified to local authorities, who can then require action in respect of intruder alarms.  

Page 13



There are fixed penalty notices associated with these procedures 
• officers have powers to enter premises to deal with noisy alarms.  The new Act provides 
additional protection through indemnifying officers (and the authority) who have acted in good 
faith 
• changes are made to the fixed penalty arrangements within the Noise Act 1996 (deals 
with night time noise), whereby penalty levels can be set and income retained.  Officers can 
also require names and addresses to be provided.  A further provision extended these 
powers specifically to licensed premises is provided, with a higher fixed penalty provision of 
£500. 
• The law at present requires an officer to serve an abatement notice if he/she believes that 
a noise nuisance exists.  The new Act enables this action to be deferred for 7 days if an 
officer believes that persuasion may provide the solution.  If at the end of the 7 day period the 
nuisance remains, the statutory notice must be served. 
 
32. The Act also clarifies the circumstances whereby an authorised officer may gain entry 
to a property where an alarm is sounding continuously.  Entry is permitted initially without 
force and an alarm can be silenced.  Entry by force is only permitted on the basis of a 
warrant and all other steps must first have been attempted. The Act also makes it clear that 
provided officers acted in good faith neither they nor the authority can be held liable following 
action to silence an alarm. 
 
33. It is worth noting that in the context of this part, car alarms are not included in these 
controls. 
 
Question: Do you have any comments on the guidance relating to noise or intruder 
alarms? 
 
Fixed penalty notices 
 
34. Whilst there are very few specific questions about fixed penalties, it is important that 
members understand what is proposed.  Fixed penalty notices (FPN) are seen as an 
expedient way of dealing with offences, and are seen by the government as having public 
support provided that their use is seen as reasonable and even-handed. 
 
35. FPN are seen as part of an overall environmental crime strategy, with a mix of use of 
FPN for “lesser” offences and action through the courts for the more serious.  It is suggested 
that the use of FPN be part of the Council’s enforcement policy and it should be introduced 
following consultation with the community and other agencies, particularly of course the 
Police. 
 
36. FPN should only be used where there is sufficient evidence to support a formal 
prosecution, and where FPN are not paid they have to be followed up through the courts.  
Furthermore, there should be careful planning and consideration ahead of their use, with a 
well publicised lead-in period in order to ensure community support and acceptance. 
 
37. Pages 128 and 129 set out which offences can be dealt with via the FPN procedure, 
along with the fines which can be levied.  In most cases the fines can either be set by the 
authority, or if they choose not to do so, there is a government set default fine.  Officers 
within Essex have been considering this consultation with a view to seeking a countywide 
approach to the use of FPN and the level of fine.  There is merit in this approach since there 
will be public disquiet if a FPN fine in one district is noticeably different in one district than 
another for the same offence.  At present officers feel that the default fine should be adopted 
along with the early payment reduction (see pages 130 – 131) 
 
Question: Do you have any views on the level / range of penalties? 
 
38. On the same theme of consistency, officers feel that there is merit in all councils using 
the same FPN pads and related documentation.  The consultation refers to this and asks: 
 

Page 14



Question: Should Defra, with practitioners develop model paperwork for placement 
on the Defra website? 
 
39. The income from FPN can be retained by authorities to use on related issues.  The 
table on pages 133 – 134 sets out where and how the income can be used. 
 
Other issues 
 
40. The remainder of the consultation deals with issues such as abandoned shopping 
trolleys and changes to nuisance provisions relating to insects and light.  Questions 37 to 45 
relate to these more technical matters and on this basis they are not set out in this report.  
Officers will however provide comment as appropriate for members to consider at the 
meeting so that the response has full member involvement and endorsement. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank


